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Dane S. Ciolino August 6, 2017

LSBA Seeks Public Comment on Proposed Anti-
Discrimination Rule of Professional Conduct

lalegalethics.org /lsba-seeks-public-comment-on-proposed-anti-discrimination-rule-of-professional-conduct/

On July 19, 2017, the Louisiana State Bar Association’s
Rules of Professional Conduct Committee began accepting
written comments on the adoption of a new anti-
discrimination standard of professional conduct. A
subcommittee of the Rules Committee has proposed the
addition of a new Louisiana Rule 8.4(h), that would provide
as follows:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (h) engage in conduct in connection with the
practice of law that the lawyer knows or reasonably should know involves discrimination
prohibited by law because of race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national
origin, marital status, or disability. This Rule does not prohibit legitimate advocacy when
race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, or
disability are issues, nor does it limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline or withdraw
from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16.

See LSBA Rules of Professonal Conduct, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report Executive Summary at p. 2 (Mar.
24, 2017); see also LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct Committee, Rule 8.4 Subcommittee Report (Mar.
24, 2017) (full report).

Should the Louisiana State Bar Association recommend, and should the Louisiana Supreme Court adopt,
this or a similar standard of professional conduct? Well, it depends …..

Background: The 2016 Adoptoin of ABA Model Rule 8.4(g)
In 2016, the ABA amended Model Rule 8.4 to include a broad anti-discrimination and anti-harassment
provision, and three revised comments. The amendment, which was sponsored by several ABA
groups,1 added this new paragraph (g) to the black-letter of Rule 8.4:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (g) engage in conduct that the lawyer knows
or reasonably should know is harassment or discrimination on the basis of race, sex,
religion, national origin, ethnicity, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital
status or socioeconomic status in conduct related to the practice of law. This paragraph does
not limit the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline, or withdraw from a representation in
accordance with Rule 1.16. This paragraph does not preclude legitimate advice or advocacy
consistent with these rules.
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See ABA Revised Resolution 109 (adopted Aug. 8, 2016). The three revised comments to Rule 8.4 provide
as follows:

[3] Discrimination and harassment by lawyers in violation of paragraph (g) undermines
confidence in the legal profession and the legal system. Such discrimination includes harmful
verbal or physical conduct that manifests bias or prejudice towards others. Harassment
includes sexual harassment and derogatory or demeaning verbal or physical conduct.
Sexual harassment includes unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and
other unwelcome verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature. The substantive law of
antidiscrimination and anti-harassment statutes and case law may guide application of
paragraph (g).

[4] Conduct related to the practice of law includes representing clients; interacting with
witnesses, coworkers, court personnel, lawyers and others while engaged in the practice of
law; operating or managing a law firm or law practice; and participating in bar association,
business or social activities in connection with the practice of law. Lawyers may engage in
conduct undertaken to promote diversity and inclusion without violating this rule by, for
example, implementing initiatives aimed at recruiting, hiring, retaining and advancing diverse
employees or sponsoring diverse law student organizations.

[5] A trial judge’s finding that peremptory challenges were exercised on a discriminatory basis
does not alone establish a violation of paragraph (g).  A lawyer does not violate paragraph
(g) by limiting the scope or subject matter of the lawyer’s practice or by limiting the lawyer’s
practice to members

of underserved populations in accordance with these Rules and other law. A lawyer may
charge and collect reasonable fees and expenses for a representation. Rule 1.5(a). Lawyers
also should be mindful of their professional obligations under Rule 6.1 to provide legal
services to those who are unable to pay, and their obligation under Rule 6.2 not to avoid
appointments from a tribunal except for good cause. See Rule 6.2(a), (b) and (c). A lawyer’s
representation of a client does not constitute an endorsement by the lawyer of the client’s
views or activities. See Rule 1.2(b).

It is often difficult to have a rational discussion about anti-discrimination and anti-harassment rule making.
Some fervently believe that such provisions are yet another example of political correctness run a muck.
Others just as fervently believe that such provisions serve to promote inclusiveness and confidence in the
legal profession.

Breadth of ABA Model Rule
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Irrespective of viewpoint, every lawyer should be concerned
about the breadth of the ABA’s model rule.

First, the rule broadly defines “harassment” to include any
“derogatory or demeaning verbal conduct” by a lawyer relating
to a person’s “race, sex, religion, national origin, ethnicity,
disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital status
or socioeconomic status.” Even words that are not “harmful”
meet the definition of “harassment” if they are “derogatory or
demeaning” and relate to a designated category of person.

Second, the rule subjects to discipline not only a lawyer who
knowingly engages in harassment or discrimination, but also a
lawyer who negligently utters a derogatory or demeaning
comment. So, a lawyer who did not know that a comment was
offensive will be disciplined if the lawyer should have known that
it was. It will be interesting to see how the “objectively reasonable lawyer” will be constructed for purposes
of making this determination.

Third, the rule subjects to discipline not only a lawyer who slings a “derogatory or demeaning comment”
directly at another person, but also a lawyer who makes an abstract comment about general types or
categories of people. Indeed, in revising comment 4, the ABA expressly deleted language that would have
limited the definition of “harassment” to include only derogatory or demeaning conduct directed “towards a
person who is, or is perceived to be, a member of one of the groups.”

Fourth, the rule subjects to discipline a lawyer who discriminates on the basis of “socioeconomic status.”
What is that? UCLA Law Professor Eugene Volokh raises this (valid) concern:

That term isn’t defined in the proposed rule, but the one definition I’ve seen — interpreting a
similar ban on socioeconomic-status discrimination in the Sentencing Guidelines — is “an
individual’s status in society as determined by objective criteria such as education, income,
and employment.” United States v. Lopez, 938 F.2d 1293, 1297 (D.C. Cir. 1991); see also
United States v. Peltier, 505 F.3d 389, 393 & n.14 (5th Cir. 2007) (likewise treating wealth as
an element of socioeconomic status); United States v. Graham, 946 F.2d 19, 21 (4th Cir.
1991) (same).

Eugene Volokh, Banning Lawyers from Discriminating Based on ‘Socioeconomic Status’ in Choosing
Partners, Employees or Experts, The Volokh Conspiracy (Aug. 10, 2016). Volokh questions whether this
rule will prohibit a law firm from preferring lawyers, nonlawyer assistants, and expert witnesses with degrees
from high-status educational institutions. Id.

Permissible Discrimination Under the ABA Model Rule

Not all discriminatory conduct is verboten under this new model rule. The amended comments specifically
permit “conduct”—which presumably includes both discrimination and harassment—if “undertaken to
promote diversity and inclusion.” In addition, the comments note that a lawyer may discriminate on the basis
of “socioeconomic status”—in direct violation of the black-letter provision—if the discrimination is intended
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to benefit “members of underserved populations.”

What Should Louisiana Do?
For starters, Louisiana should not adopt the ABA’s new standard. For all of the reasons discussed above,
the ABA model rule is fraught with problems.

Moreover, Louisiana should not adopt the March 2017 proposal of the Rule 8.4 Subcommittee. Granted, the
subcommittee’s proposal is less problematic than the new ABA model rule. For example, it does not brand
any sort of “harassment” as misconduct, and thereby avoids the myriad problems associated with the ABA
anti-harassment standard.

However, the subcommittee proposal still raises questions. It brands as “misconduct” purely negligent
discrimination. It inexplicably incorporates some of the ABA’s protected classes (race, religion, age, gender,
sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, and disability), but excludes others (ethnicity, gender
identity, and socioeconomic status). What is it about gender identity, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status that
are unworthy of protection?

In my view, Louisiana should adopt a simpler anti-discrimination standard that is directly tethered to anti-
discrimination laws applicable to Louisiana lawyers. Such anti-discrimination laws would include those
enacted by the federal government, the State of Louisiana, and local governments. Doing so would avoid
the need for the LSBA to “keep up” with changing notions of what personal characteristics are worthy of
class protection.2 Doing so would also avoid imposing discipline on innocent and merely negligent lawyers.
Here is my proposed language:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: . . . (h) engage in conduct in connection with the
practice of law that the lawyer knows is unlawful discrimination prohibited by federal, state,
or local law. This Rule does not prohibit legitimate advocacy when a protected personal
characteristic is relevant to the representation, nor does it limit the ability of a lawyer to
accept, decline or withdraw from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16.

Let Your Voice be Heard

The comment period on this proposed anti-discrimination standard opened on July 19, 2017, and closes on
September 16, 2017. To weigh in, email your thoughts to: “SUBJECT: Rule 8.4(g) Subcommittee
Recommendation” c/o RLemmler@lsba.org. Be aware that the LSBA will consider all comments public and
may publish them on its website.

1. The amendment was sponsored by the ABA’s Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional
Responsibility, the Section of Civil Rights and Social Justice, the Commission on Disability Rights,
the Diversity & Inclusion 360 Commission, the Commission on Racial and Ethnic Diversity in the
Profession, the Commission on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity, and the Commission on
Women in the Profession. See Lorelei Laird, Discrimination and Harassment Will be Legal Ethics
Violations Under ABA Model Rule, ABA Journal (Aug. 8, 2016, 6:36 p.m.).

2. For example, my proposal would brand as “misconduct” unlawful conduct based on personal
characteristics protected by federal law such as race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, sexual
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orientation, gender idenity, pregnancy, citizenship, familial status, disability status, veteran status, and
genetic information.
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Claire Zeringue August 1, 2017

July 2017 Discipline
lalegalethics.org /july-2017-discipline/

These lawyers were the subject of Louisiana Supreme Court disciplinary orders or Louisiana Attorney
Disciplinary Board recommendations that were made public during the month of July 2017.

 

Louisiana Supreme Court

1. Marcus Paul Lacombe. The court suspended the respondent from the practice of law on an interim
basis.

2. John E. Settle.  The court suspended the respondent from the practice of law on an interim basis for
threat of harm, and authorized the ODC to seek the appointment a trustee to protect the
respondent’s clients and their interests.

Louisiana Attorney Disciplinary Board

1. Andres H. Aguilar. The Board recommended that the Louisiana
Supreme Court suspend the respondent for one year, with all
but nine months deferred, and subject to a two-year probation
period. In addition, the Board recommended that the
respondent attend ten additional hours of CLE in law office
management, and that he sign a contract with JLAP to
continue counseling and therapy. The respondent neglected
client matters, paid an unethical referral fee, and allowed client
matters to prescribe.

2. Robert B. Purser.  The Board recommended that the Louisiana
Supreme Court permanently disbar the respondent, and that
the respondent pay restitution to his clients or the Client
Assistance Fund. The respondent failed to disburse his client’s
subrogation checks, failed to keep his client reasonably informed, issued checks not honored by the
bank due to insufficient funds, failed to act with reasonable diligence in representing his client, and
practiced law while on interim suspension.

3. Darryl L. Robertson.  The Board recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court suspend the
respondent for one year and one day. The respondent failed to provide competent and diligent
representation of his clients, and failed to adequately communicate with his clients. The respondent
was unable to provide competent representation due to his lack of understanding of Louisiana law
and procedure as demonstrated, in part, by his failure to serve the correct party in a civil matter.

4. Michael L. Martin.  The Board recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court suspend the
respondent for two years. The respondent commingled and converted client funds, wrote trust checks
payable to cash, paid personal bills from his trust account, and failed to fully cooperate with the ODC
in its investigation.
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5. Peter Brian Derouen. The Board recommended that the
Louisiana Supreme Court disbar the respondent. After the
respondent failed to communicate with his client, the client
sought new representation. The respondent thereafer failed to
provide his files to the new lawyer. In addition, the respondent
converted and comingled client and third-party property, and
failed to cooperate with the ODC.

6. Peggy Hairston Robinson.  The Board recommended that the
Louisiana Supreme Court permanently disbar the respondent.
The respondent engaged in dishonesty and misrepresentation in
dealings with a mortgage broker, threatened to present
disciplinary charges solely to obtain an advantage in a civil
matter, knowingly disobeyed an obligation under the rules of a
tribunal, engaged in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice, failed to abide by a client’s
decision, collected an unreasonable fee, and committed other violations of the Louisiana Rules of
Professional Conduct.

LADB Hearing Committees

1. Raushanah Skahia Hunter.  Hearing Committee #14 recommended that the Louisiana Supreme
Court suspend the respondent for one year and one day, with all but four months deferred, and two
years of probabtion. The committee also recommended that the respondent attend Ethics School,
have a mentor from the LSBA Supreme Court sponsored program, register for the LSBA Client
Assistance Foundation (or the Practice Assistance Foundation), and make restitution. The
respondent failed to communicate properly with her client, failed to disclose her malpractice to her
client, and failed to cooperate with the ODC.

2. Hillard Charles Fazande, III.  Hearing Committee #37 recommended that the Louisiana Supreme
Court suspend the respondent for two years. The respondent mishandled funds and failed to satisfy
and discharge a judgment rendered against him for retaining an unearned fee.

3. Roger Wayne Kitchens.  Hearing Committee #10 recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court
suspend the respondent for three years, and that he comply with a JLAP Recovery Agreement. The
respondent violated duties of integrity, honesty, professionalism, and decorum owed to his clients, to
the public, to the legal system, and to the legal profession.

4. Steven Courtney Gill.  Hearing Committee #24 recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court
conditionally reinstate the respondent to the practice of law, with the condition that his practice be
monitored by a practice monitor for a one year period.  The committee also recommended that the
respondent continue to participate in the Florida LAP program, regularly attend AA meetings, attend
anger management, and attend CLE hours in professionalism to satisfy his regular MCLE
requirements. The Louisana Supreme Court previously suspended the respondent for one year and
one day.

5. William A. Roe.  Hearing Committee #12 found that the petitioner, a disbarred former district judge,
failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he should be readmitted to the practice of law.
The Louisiana Supreme Court disbarred Roe for making unlawful reimbursements to himself from a
court “bond fund.” The committee found, among other things, that the Roe failed to appreciate the
wrongfulness of his past conduct.
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Claire Zeringue July 4, 2017

June 2017 Discipline
lalegalethics.org /june-2017-discipline/

These lawyers were the subject of Louisiana Supreme Court disciplinary orders or Louisiana Attorney
Disciplinary Board recommendations that were made public during the month of June 2017.

Louisiana Supreme Court

1. Greta L. Wilson. The court disbarred the respondent
and ordered her to pay restitution after she filed suit
on behalf a client without the client’s authorization,
falsely affixed her client’s signature on a check, and
deposited that check into her trust account.

2. Kenneth Robin Bowen. The court granted the
respondent’s request for permanent resignation in
lieu of discipline, and permanently prohibited him from
practicing law in Louisiana or any other jurisdiction.
Respondent was a former NOPD officer who was
convicted of the deprivation of rights under color of
law, conspiracy to obstruct justice, and obstruction of
justice by engaging in misleading conduct, in
connection with a shooting on the Danziger Bridge in
New Orleans in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina.
For more on this case, click here.

3. Preston G. Sutherland. The court suspended the respondent for one year and one day all deferred
after his arrest for driving while intoxicated. The court also placed the respondent on probation to
coincide with the term of a recovery agreement with the JLAP.

4. Kathy M. O’Quinn. The court disbarred the respondent on a reciprocal basis after her disbarment in
Arizona.

5. David M. Mark. The court dissolved the interim suspension of respondent, which the court had
imposed on May 22, 2013.

6. Richard Collins Dalton. The court suspended the respondent for six months, fully deferred, and
imposed a two-year period of probation. The ODC and respondent submitted a joint petition for
consent discipline after the respondent admitted to mishandling his client trust account by
commingling client with personal funds.
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Louisiana Attorney Disciplinary Board

1. Craig J. Robichaux. The Board dismissed the formal charges filed
against the respondent and fully adopted the factual findings,
conclusions, and recommendation of the Hearing Committee. The
Committee and the Board found that the respondent did not
violate any of the Louisiana Rules of Professional Conduct.

2. Alvin Anthony Johnson, Jr. The Board recommended that the
Louisiana Supreme Court suspend the respondent for one year
and one day, fully deferred, with the following conditions: the
respondent must attend the LSBA’s Trust Accounting School and
Law Practice Management School, and the respondent’s trust
account must be reviewed by a CPA on a quarterly basis. The
respondent failed to deposit funds into his client trust account.

3. Joseph M. Bruno. The Board recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court suspend the
respondent for ninety days, with all by thirty days deferred. The Board concluded that the respondent
failed to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client, and that he failed to
consult with his client and to keep his client reasonably informed about the progress of a matter.

4. T. Ann Ward. The Board recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court suspend the respondent
for one year and one day. The formal charges alleged that the respondent engaged in the
unauthorized entry of an inhabited dwelling, stalking, violation of a protective order, and the
unauthorized use of a credit card.

5. Mark G. Simmons. The Board recommended that the  Louisiana Supreme Court suspend the
respondent for one year and one day, with all but sixty days deferred subject to the following
conditions: successful completion of the LSBA Trust Accounting School, successful completion of the
LSBA Ethics School, and two-years of probation with auditing of the respondent’s trust account.

LADB Hearing Committees

1. Louise Anne Klaila. Hearing Committee #56 recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court
suspend the respondent for one year with all but three months deferred. The Committee found that
the respondent collected an unreasonable fee and failed to return an unearned portion to the client.
The Committee also found that the respondent intentionally or willfully failed to cooperate with the
ODC.

2. Debra L. Cassibry. Hearing Committee #33 recommended that the Louisiana Supreme Court
permanently disbar the respondent.

3. Wiley J. Beevers. Hearing Committee #33 found that the respondent violated Rules 1.7 and 1.9(a) by
failing to avoid a conflict of interest. The Committee recommended that the Board publicly reprimand
the respondent, and ordered him to take CLE on the subject of law-office management.
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Dane S. Ciolino June 25, 2017

LSBA House of Delegates Defeates Resolution to Create
(Sectarian) First Amendment Preservation Section

lalegalethics.org /lsba-house-of-delegates-defeates-resolution-to-create-sectarian-first-amendment-
preservation-section/

Thankfully, a controversial resolution to create a “First Amendment
Preservation Section” of the Louisiana State Bar Association was defeated
by the LSBA House of Delegates at its Sandestin meeting on June 8,
2017. See LSBA House of Delegates Actions (Jun. 8, 2017). The stated
purpose of creating the new section was this:

The purpose of this Section is to provide a forum and an opportunity for group participation
by individual attorneys who are dedicated to study legislation and jurisprudence impacting
the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 7, 8, and 9 of
the current Louisiana Constitution and who are dedicated to promote and protect laws
supportive of the personal liberties guaranteed by the First Amendment.

See James J. Davidson, III, Resolution for Creation of First Amendment Preservation Section (Jun. 2017).
On its face, a harmless and perhaps noble effort.

But its real purpose was to resurrect an ill-fated January 2017 resolution to create a “Christian Values
Preservation Section.” That resolution was withdrawn from the agenda for the LSBA House of
Delegates mid-year meeting on January 21, 2017. The proposal would have established a new section “to
provide a forum and an opportunity for group participation by individual attorneys who are dedicated and
Biblically inspired to preserve, protect and promote those laws which are based on and founded on Judeo
Christian values and principles and which confirm our Country’s Trust in God.” Dozens of lawyers signed a
letter addressed to the LSBA president expressing “grave concern” regarding the resolution, and contending
that “the creation of such a section would be divisive, potentially destructive, and reflect poorly on our duty
of justice to all.”
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Dane S. Ciolino June 25, 2017

Louisiana Supreme Court Sends the LSBA Back to the
Drawing Board for a New Fixed-Fee Rule

lalegalethics.org /louisiana-supreme-court-sends-the-lsba-back-to-the-drawing-board-for-a-new-fixed-fee-rule/

On June 21, 2017, the Louisiana Supreme Court rejected a Louisiana
State Bar Association recommendation that the court amend Louisiana
Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(f)(2) governing fixed fees.

Under current Rule 1.5(f)(2), a lawyer earns a fixed fee when the lawyer
agrees to handle the client’s matter through completion. As a result, the
current rule permits the lawyer to deposit the fixed fee into the lawyer’s
operating account upon receipt:

(2) When the client pays the lawyer all or part of a fixed fee or of a minimum fee for
particular representation with services to be rendered in the future, the funds become the
property of the lawyer when paid, subject to the provisions of Rule 1.5(f)(5). Such funds
need not be placed in the lawyer’s trust account, but may be placed in the lawyer’s operating
account.

That does not mean, however, that the fixed fee is “nonrefundable.” If the client discharges the lawyer or the
lawyer otherwise terminates the representation, the lawyer must return any unearned portion of the fee.
After all, keeping an unearned fee would violate Louisiana Rule 1.5(a), which prohibits a lawyer from
charging or collecting an “unreasonable fee.” The occasional obligation to refund
a fixed fee after payment has caused problems in practice. The Client Assistance
Fund and the Office of Disciplinary Counsel have reported instances in which a
client has fired a deadbeat lawyer after paying a fixed fee. In many cases, the
client’s request for a post-discharge refund has been met with this reply: “No. I
spent the money.”

To address this problem, the LSBA recommended to the Louisiana Supreme
Court that it amend Rule 1.5(f)(2) to allow fixed fees only when a lawyer obtains
“the informed consent of the client in a writing signed by the client.” More
particularly, the amended rule would have provided as follows:

(f) Payment of fees in advance of services shall be subject to the following rules: . . . (2) A
lawyer may charge a fixed or minimum fee for specified legal services, which fee may be
paid in whole or in part in advance of the lawyer providing the services. With the informed
consent of the client in a writing signed by the client, and subject to the provisions of Rule
1.5(f)(5), the funds may be used by the lawyer when paid and, need not be placed in the
lawyer’s trust account. The written fee agreement shall include the following: (i) the scope of
services to be provided; (ii) the total amount of the fee and the terms of payment; (iii) that the
funds will be used by the lawyer when paid and will not be placed in a trust account; (iv) that
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the fee agreement does not alter the client’s right to terminate the client-lawyer relationship;
and (v) that the client may be entitled to a refund of a portion of the fee if the agreed-upon
legal services have not been completed.

See Resolution 2, LSBA House of Delegates (May 6, 2016) (approved by the LSBA House of Delegates on
June 9, 2016, and the LSBA Board of Governors on June 10, 2016).

On June 21, 2017, the court, through its Deputy Judicial Administrator & General Counsel, orally informed
the LSBA Rules of Professional Conduct Committee that the court was not comfortable with the proposed
amendment and suggested that the Association reconsider its proposal. As a result, the issue will return to
the Rules Committee for further study.
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Dane S. Ciolino June 25, 2017

Avvo Lawyer Referral Service Ruled to be Unethical
lalegalethics.org /avvo-lawyer-referral-service-ruled-to-be-unethical/

On June 21, 2017, the New Jersey Supreme Court joined
Ohio, South Carolina, and Pennsylvania and said “no”
to Avvo Advisor, a pay-for-service lawyer referral plan that
is available in Louisiana. See Notice to the Bar, Lawyer
Participation in the Avvo Legal Service Program (Jun. 21,
2017).

How does it work? A prospective client visits the
website https://www.avvo.com/advisor, selects the legal
services needed, pays Avvo a fixed fee, and Avvo arranges
for an “experienced Louisiana lawyer” to return the
prospective client’s call within minutes.

From the lawyer’s standpoint, participating is easy. The
lawyer simply clicks the “Join Today” button and agrees to provide certain legal services for a fixed fee. For
example, the flat fee for a “15-minute Family advice session” is $39.00; filing for an “uncontested divorce” is
$995.00; and creating a “last will and testament” is $295.00. Avvo boasts:

With more than 8 million visits to Avvo each month, we can connect you with clients who
have already paid for limited-scope legal services. There’s no chasing leads.

You choose from dozens of legal services and control your availability. Clients only buy what
you want to sell, when you want to sell it.

Avvo handles the billing up front, so you can focus on getting the client the help they need.
No sending invoices.

After the lawyer provides the services, Avvo sends the lawyer “100% of the client’s payment.” The lawyer
then “[a]s a completely separate transaction,” pays a “per-service marketing fee.” The amount of that
marketing fee “depends on the service, and ranges from a $10 marketing fee for a $39 service, to $40
marketing fee for a $149 service, up to a $400 marketing fee for a $2995 service. See Attorney FAQ for
Avvo Legal Services.

“Is it ethical?,” you ask. According to Avvo, “yes, it is.” Avvo says that it is not getting paid for lawyer
referrals: “Avvo is not referring people to a particular lawyer. Potential client choose which attorney they
would like to work with from all available, participating attorneys.” Furthermore, Avvo says that it is not
sharing in legal fees: “Fee splits are not inherently unethical. They only become a problem if the split
creates a situation that may compromise a lawyer’s professional independence of judgment. We believe
that Avvo Legal Services fees, if deducted like credit card fees, would involve the sort of technical fee split
that would not create such a potential for compromise.” See id.

The problem is that Avvo is wrong, at least according to this recent New Jersey advisory opinion. Said the
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New Jersey opinion:

the Avvo website offers an impermissible referral service, in violation of Rules of
Professional Conduct 7.2(c) and 7.3(d), as well as improper fee sharing with a nonlawyer in
violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 5.4(a).

See Notice to the Bar, Lawyer Participation in the Avvo Legal Service Program (Jun. 21, 2017).

Ohio and South Carolina have reached similar conclusions. On July 14, 2016, the South Carolina Bar
advised lawyers not to participate in the service for two reasons. See South Carolina Bar Assoc., Ethics
Advisory Op. 16-06 (Jul. 14, 2016). First, the participating lawyer’s “marketing fee” payment is
impermissible fee sharing under Rule 5.4(a):

The fact that there is a separate transaction in which the service is paid does not mean that
the arrangement is not fee splitting as described in the Rules of Professional Conduct. . . . A
lawyer cannot do indirectly what would be prohibited if done directly. Allowing the service to
indirectly take a portion of the attorney’s fee by disguising it in two separate transactions
does not negate the fact that the service is claiming a certain portion of the fee earned by the
lawyer as its “per service marketing fee.”

Id. Second, the participating lawyer’s “marketing fee” payment is the giving of something of value for
recommending the lawyer’s services:

By basing the advertising charge to the lawyer on the fee collected for the work rather than
having a fixed rate per referral or other reasonable cost for the advertisement, a lawyer
utilizing this service cannot claim the [reasonable-advertising-cost] exception to the
prohibition of paying for referrals . . . .

Id.1

On June 3, 2016, the Ohio Supreme Court Board of Professional Conduct and legal-ethics commentators
reached similar negative conclusions. See Sup. Ct. of Oh. Bd. of Prof’l Conduct, Op. No. 2016-3 (Jun. 3,
2016); Alberto Bernabe, South Carolina Ethics Advisory Opinion Finds That Participating in Programs Like
Avvo Legal Services is Unethical, Professional Responsibility Blog (Aug. 12, 2016); Scott H. Greenfield, The
Trouble with Avvo’s Ethics, Simple Justice (Aug. 12, 2016).

Avvo, of course, still thinks that everything is okay. See Josh King, Our Opinion on South Carolina Advisory
Opinion 16-06, Lawyernomics by Avvo (Aug. 12, 2016).

Considering these three unfavorable ethics opinions,
Louisiana lawyers should avoid participating in Avvo
Advisor. Louisiana Rule 5.4(a) provides that a “lawyer or
law firm shall not share legal fees with a nonlawyer,”
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except under unusual circumstances. Similarly, Louisiana Rule 7.2(c)(13) provides that a “lawyer shall not
give anything of value to a person for recommending the lawyer’s services, except that a lawyer may pay
the reasonable cost of advertising or written or recorded communication permitted by these Rules, and may
pay the usual charges of a lawyer referral service . . . .” Both rules are squarely implicated by Avvo’s
business model.

1. The South Carolina opinion cites Comment 7 to the rule in support of its conclusion. This comment
“discusses reasonable advertising costs and lists such items as newspaper ads, on-line directory
listings, radio/television advertisement, etc. The permitted type of advertising described in the
comments typically is of a type that has a fixed cost per ad or per run of air time, and
reasonableness can be assessed by the market rate for the type of advertising.” In contrast, Avvo
“purports to charge the lawyer a fee based on the type of service the lawyer has performed rather
than a fixed fee for the advertisement, or a fee per inquiry or ‘click.’ In essence, the service’ s
charges amount to a contingency advertising fee arrangement rather than a cost that can be
assessed for reasonableness by looking at market rate or comparable services.”
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Dane S. Ciolino June 25, 2017

A Lawyer May Pay “Reasonable Compensation” to a
Fact Witness for Preparation Time

lalegalethics.org /a-lawyer-may-pay-reasonable-compensation-to-a-fact-witness-for-preparation-time/

On May 22, 2017, the West Virginia Lawyer Disciplinary Board issued an advisory
opinion as to “whether fact witnesses can be compensated for lost time spent
testifying and/or preparing to testify.” See W.V. L.E.O. 2017-01 (May 22, 2017). The
danger, of course, is that such a payment might run afoul of Rule 3.4(b), which
prohibits the payment of “an inducement to a witness that is prohibited by law.” The
Board found that “reasonable” compensation for preparation does not violate the
state’s professional conduct standards:

[C]ompensating a fact witness for time spent preparing for testimony and being interviewed
is permissible under the Rules of Professional Conduct. This is only allowed if the
compensation is reasonable and not based upon the outcome of the litigation. The
agreement to pay compensation should be in writing and disclosed to the opposing side.

Id. at 7.

Are such payments to a fact witness permissible in Louisiana? Yes. Louisiana Rule of Professional Conduct
3.4(b) provides that “[a] lawyer shall not . . . offer an inducement to a witness that is prohibited by law.”
Given this language, a lawyer must “look outside the rule to ascertain which inducements are prohibited by
law and therefore unethical.” See ABA/BNA Lawyes’ Manual on Professional Cond. § 61:718 (2007).
Louisiana law expressly prohibits only one type of “inducement”—a bribe. “Bribery” is the “giving or offering
to give, directly or indirectly, anything of apparent present or prospective value” to any “[w]itness, or person
about to be called as a witness, upon a trial or other proceeding” if the payment is made “with the intent to
influence his conduct . . . .” See La. Rev. Stat. § 14:118(A)(1)(d); see also 18 U.S.C.A. § 201.

Louisiana decisional law contains no per se prohibition against payments to fact witnesses. The few
reported decisions that address the issue reflect judicial disapproval only when the payment is made with
improper motive. For example, the Louisiana Supreme Court disbarred a lawyer for paying a bribe to a
witness with the intent to influence the witness’s testimony. See In re Hingle, 717 So. 2d 636 (La. 1998).
Likewise, the Louisiana Supreme Court disbarred a lawyer who made a payment to a witness for the
purpose of inducing him “to provide false and misleading information.” See La. State Bar Assoc. v. Thierry,
573 So. 2d 1099, 1103 (La. 1991). The Louisiana Supreme Court suspended a lawyer, in part, because he
made a payment to a fact witness whose cooperation was contingent on the payment. See In re Bruno, 956
So. 2d 577, 578-79 (La. 2007).

Although no reported Louisiana decision addresses whether it is appropriate to pay a fact witness for the
witness’s lost income and expenses attendant to trial or deposition preparation, the preponderance of
persuasive authority suggests that a lawyer should not be subjected to discipline for making such a
payment. For example, the Restatement of the Law Governing Lawyers permits a lawyer to pay the
“reasonable expenses of the witness incurred and the reasonable value of the witness’s time spent in
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providing evidence.” See Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 117(1) (2000). Comment “b”
to this section clarifies that it encompasses time and expenses “incurred in preparation for and giving
testimony, such as lost wages caused by the witness’s absence from employment.” Id. cmt. b (emphasis
added). Likewise, the American Bar Association Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility has
opined, as have most state bar associations that have considered the issue, that Model Rule 3.4(b) permits
lawyers to pay fact witnesses for the income actually lost and expenses actually incurred to prepare for trial
testimony. See ABA Comm. on Ethics and Professional Responsibility, Formal Op. 96-402 (1996). According
to the committee,

there is no reason to draw a distinction between (a) compensating a witness for time spent
in actually attending a deposition or a trial and (b) compensating the witness for time spent
in pretrial interviews with the lawyer in preparation for testifying, so long as the lawyer makes
it clear to the witness that the payment is not being made for the substance (or efficacy) of
the witness’s testimony or as an inducement to “tell the truth.” The Committee is further of
the view that the witness may also be compensated for time spent in reviewing and
researching records that are germane to his or her testimony, provided, of course, that such
compensation is not barred by local law.

Id. In summary, the Louisiana Rules of Professional Conduct, relevant statutory law, case law, and
persuasive authority all indicate that a lawyer should not be subjected to discipline for paying a fact witness
if:

1. the payment is not motivated by an improper purpose, such as to obtain “inside information,” to
obtain false testimony or to influence the content of the witness’s testimony;

2. the amount paid merely compensates the witness for the reasonable value of the time and expenses
actually incurred by the witness; and,

3. the amount of the payment is not contingent on the witness’s testimony.
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Dane S. Ciolino June 7, 2017

Lawyer-Cop in Danziger Case Permanently Resigns
from Practice of Law

lalegalethics.org /lawyer-cop-in-danziger-case-permanently-resigns-from-practice-of-law/

Ken Bowen, a lawyer and former New Orleans Police Officer,
permanently resigned from the practice of law effective June 5,
2017. See In re Kenneth R. Bowen, LASC No. 2017-OB-0712 (Jun. 5,
2017). According to the court’s order:

Respondent was convicted of deprivation of rights under color
of law in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 242; conspiracy to obstruct
justice in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371; and obstruction of justice by engaging in misleading
conduct in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(3).

Bowen is currently serving a ten-year term of imprisonment with the United States Bureau of Prisons as a
result of his role in the shootings on the Danziger Bridge in New Orleans duing the aftermath of Hurricane
Katrina. The Office of Disciplinary Counsel (“ODC”) concurred in Mr. Bowen’s petition.
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Claire Zeringue June 7, 2017

May 2017 Discipline
lalegalethics.org /may-2017-discipline/

These lawyers were the subject of Louisiana Supreme Court disciplinary orders or Louisiana Attorney
Disciplinary Board recommendations that were made public during the month of May 2017.

Louisiana Supreme Court

1. Hugh B. Exnicios, Jr. The court granted a joint
Petition for Consent Discipline submitted by
respondent and the ODC, and suspended the
respondent for six months for mishandling his client
trust account and for threatening to report a lawyer to
the ODC in an effort to gain an advantage in a civil
case. The court deferred the suspension entirely and
imposed a one-year probationary period.

2. Dwight D. Poirrier. The court suspended the
respondent from the practice of law for one year and
one day after the ODC investigated allegations of
respondent’s two arrests for driving under the
influence of alcohol. The court deferred the
suspension entirely and the placed the respondent on
two-years of unsupervised probation.

3. Johnny S. Anzalone. In January 2013, respondent was arraigned due to a first offense DWI charge. A
drug screening indicated positive results for cocaine and methadone. In March 2014, the respondent
was found guilty of the DWI charge, and then a bench warrant was issued in Decemeber 2014, due
to respondent’s failure to appear in court for monitoring. Respondent was also arrested for a second
DWI offense in March 2014, when respondent admitted he was under the influence of meth. Before
the ODC, respondent testified that he was conditionally admitted to practice, subject to a two-year
probation monitored by the JLAP. The court suspended the respondent for one year and one day,
with no time deferred, with the requirement for respondent to apply for reinstatement.

4. Richard F. Price, Jr. The court granted respondent’s request for permanent resignation from the
practice in lieu of discipline. The request was made in response to the ODC’s allegations of serious
attorney misconduct, including commingling and conversion of client funds.

5. Anna C. Simmons. The court suspended the respondent from the practice for six months, which the
court deffered subject to supervised probation of two-years. The respondent allegedly mishandled
her client trust account by commingling client funds with her personal funds. Respondent and the
ODC submitted a joint petition for consent discipline prior to the filing of formal charges by the ODC.

6. Stacy Lynn Morris. The court suspended the respondent for a period of three years, which
suspension will run consecutively to a previously imposed suspension. The court also ordered the
respondent to make full restitution to her client. In December 2013, the respondent disbursed
settlement funds to her client, withholding the sum for medical expenses, but never paid the third-
party medical provider.
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7. Candace P. Howay. The court suspended the respondent for one year and one day, and to pay
restitution to her former firm. In the process of switching firms, respondent’s previous firm found
evidence of conversion of funds.

8. James Paul Johnson. The court suspended the respondent on an interim basis.

9. Richard C. Teissier. The court denied respondent’s claim of inability to defend and ordered the
reinstatement of respondent to active status from interim disability inactive status.

10. George William Jarman. The court granted respondent’s request for permanent resignation in lieu of
discipline, after respondent was convicted on child-pornography related charges.

11. Toby James Aucoin. The court suspended the respondent for one year and one day and to make
restitution. Respondent’s charges alleged by the ODC included failure to act with reasonable
diligence and promptness in representing a client, failure to communicate with a client, fee
arrangements, obligations upon termination of the representation.

Louisiana Attorney Disciplinary Board

1. Mignonne Griffing. The Board recommend that respondent be
suspended for six months, to be fully deferred upon completion of
one year of unsupervised probation and an additional twenty
hours of CLE. The allegations against respondent included
conflicts of interest, misconduct, fraud, deceit, misrepresentation,
as well as conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice.

LADB Hearing Committees

1. Timon V. Webre. Hearing Committee #10 recommended a one
year and one day suspension, fully deferred upon the
respondent’s attendance of classes on Trust Accounting and Law Office Management, as well as
hiring a CPA. The respondent deposited a check into his personal account instead of into a client
trust account, and respondent withdrew funds from the client trust account.

2. Paul E. Brown. Hearing Committee #27 recommended a suspension of one year and one day, fully
deferred with a 5-year JLAP agreement, as well as an agreement to stop using pain and sleep aids.
Respondent failed to report his and arrests and convictions for operating a motor vehicle while under
the influence, careless operation of a motor vehicle, and negligent vehicular injuring. Additionally,
respondent had period of opiate and sedative dependencies, which led to two DUI arrests.

3. James A. Gray, II. Hearing Committee #12 recommended that the respondent be suspended for two
years for failing to cooperate with the ODC. The ODC alleged that respondent failed to represent his
client. Hearing Committee #12 recommended a two year suspension instead of the baseline sanction
of one year because respondent had previously been suspended.

4. Gregory Swafford. Hearing Committee #8 recommended that respondent be suspended for thirty
days, fully deferred upon attendance of legal ethics school. Respondent negligently created an
attorney/client relationship, failed to act with reasonable diligence and promptness, and failed to take
steps reasonably practicable to protect his client’s interests.
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Dane S. Ciolino April 26, 2017

Orleans Parish DA is Using Fake Subpoenas
lalegalethics.org /orleans-parish-da-is-using-fake-subpoenas/

Charles Maldonado at The Lens has an interesting report on the use of fake
subpoenas by the Orleans Parish District Attorney’s Office. The
office issues self-described “SUBPOENAS” and summons
recipients to the office for interviews. Further, it threatens “fine
and imprisonment” for “failure to obey.” See Charles
Maldonado, Orleans Parish Prosecutors are Using Fake
Subpoenas to Pressure Witnesses to Talk to Them (Apr. 26,
2017).

In my view, it is inappropriate for the district attorney’s office to falsely declare that such documents are
“subpoenas” and to state that disregarding them can be punishable by fine or imprisonment. These
statements are “false statements of material fact or law to a third person,” and may violate Louisiana Rule
of Professional Conduct 4.1(a).

To summon a witness for an interview lawfully, a Louisiana prosecutor must file a written motion with the
court, and the court—not the district attorney—must issue the subpoena. An official comment to the Code of
Criminal Procedure makes it clear that the requirement of court approval before the subpoena is issued
exists to prevent “possible abuse” by the district attorney. See La. Code Crim. P. art. 66.

This practice should stop immediately.
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Dane S. Ciolino March 13, 2017

Twenty-Seventh State Adops Duty of Technology
Competence

lalegalethics.org/twenty-seventh-state-adops-duty-of-technology-competence/

In 2012, the ABA adopted an amendment to
ABA Model Rule of Professional Responsibility
1.1, comment 8, providing that “a lawyer should
keep abreast of changes in the law and its
practice, including the benefits and risks
associated with relevant technology . . . .” See
ABA, Commission on Ethics 20/20 Resolution
105A (August 2012). Since then, twenty-seven
states have officially adopted Comment 8 as
part of their rules of professional conduct.

Tennessee has fallen in line. On March 6,
2017, the Supreme Court of Tennessee amended the comments to its rules of professional conduct to
provide as follows:

To maintain the requisite knowledge and skill, a lawyer should keep abreast of changes in
the law and its practice, including the benefits and risks associated with relevant
technology, engage in continuing study and education, and comply with all continuing legal
education requirements to which the lawyer is subject.

See In re Petition to Amend Selected Provisions of Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 8, No. ADM2016-01382
(filed March 6, 2017). Given the importance of technology to a modern lawyer’s law practice, all states
should follow suit.

Robert Ambrogi at LawSites blog keeps a running list of state adoptions of this technological-competence
principle.
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